

# Complaints and Representation Procedure

Children's Services

wolverhampton.gov.uk

<b>REVIEW LOG</b>			
Date	Version	Comments	Approved by
Nov 2011	1.0	New procedure	DMT
April 2019	1.0	Reviewed procedure	Customer feedback team
Dec 2019	1.1	Reviewed procedure	Principal Social Worker
Feb 2022	2.0	Revised procedure, main changes: S1 clarification of role of Executive Director of Families in this procedure. S2 information on alternative formats	Children's Services Leadership Team 24.02.22
August 24	2.1	Reviewed and Language change	CELT 24.10.24

This system of recording review dates is designed to ensure staff at all times use the correct version of the up-to-date Policy. This system is used on all City of Wolverhampton Council – Children and Young People Policies and Procedures.

#### CONSULTATION

The following people have been consulted on this policy:

- Deputy Director Children's Social Care
- Head of Service
- Complaints Manager and Officers
- Children and Education Leadership Team

#### PURPOSE

The purpose of this Practice Guidance is to ensure appropriate records and recording meet the requirements in the local authority Children's Homes and complies with the City of Wolverhampton Council Records and Recording Policy and Procedure.

#### **KEYWORDS**

Children's, Complaints, Procedure

#### **EQUALITY ANALYSIS**

An equality analysis has been undertaken on this policy and procedure contact Rachel Warrender (rachel.warrender@wolverhampton.gov.uk/(01902) 554174) for a copy.

#### **RESTORATIVE PRACTICE**

This Policy is underpinned by relationship building and repairing harm, fundamental principles of restorative practice which weaves throughout our social work practice. Restorative Practice means strengthening relationships as well as strengthening social connections within communities. In Wolverhampton, we are committed to restorative core beliefs and principles, embedding restorative practice as a fundamental part of our work within social care. Part of this work should focus on building relationships with children, young people and their families and the society in which they live. It not only helps us to better understand their needs, but also establish positive and sustainable working relationships to improve outcomes.



# Contents

1.	1. BACKGROUND					
2.	2. POLICY					
3.	3. SCOPE AND ELIGIBILITY					
4. PROCEDURES						
	4.2	STAGE ONE: LOCAL RESOLUTION				
	4.3	STAGE TWO: FORMAL INVESTIGATION				
	4.4	THIRD STAGE: REVIEW PANEL				
5. OTHER RELEVANT PROCEDURES						
6. THIRD PARTY COMPLAINT HANDLING						
7. PROBLEM SOLVING						
8. MONITORING PERFORMANCE						
9.	9. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY					

# 1.0 BACKGROUND

- 1.1 This procedure outlines the system within Children's Services for receiving and responding to complaints relating to children, young people and families that the service works with. They are primarily aimed at representations by children, young people, and their parents/carers/appropriate adult.
- 1.2 Children's Services is required to have a complaints and representations. procedure as defined in The Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006. The Council functions covered by these procedures now include services provided under parts 3, 4 and 5 of the Children Act 1989.
- 1.3 The guidance <u>Getting the Best from Complaints</u> accompanies The Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006. This guidance follows the core principles of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child and Every Child Matters: Change for children which puts children's views at the forefront of the decision-making process. The guidance makes particular reference to the importance of creating a listening culture among local service providers and their managers and dealing effectively and fairly with concerns at the earliest stage.

## 2.0 POLICY

- 2.1 City of Wolverhampton Council welcomes representations, including complaints, as a means of learning about the quality of services and of making sure that matters, which may have gone wrong, can be corrected.
- 2.2 In order to achieve these objectives, we will ensure that:
  - The complaints procedure is clear and easy to use.
  - A complaints and representations procedure are published and available in alternative formats and languages upon request to staff children, young people, their parents/carers/appropriate adult and the public.
  - Appropriate publicity and guidance, available in alternative formats and languages upon request, are used in promoting access to all who may need it.
  - More information is available via the following:

Translation and Interpreting Services | City Of Wolverhampton Council

- Appropriate information is provided to staff and children, young people, their parents/carers/appropriate adult, where the entitlement to respond to a complaint resides with another body such as a school or other service provider.
- Training in the requirements and responsibilities of the procedure is available to those who may need it.

- Compliments as well as complaints are recorded and monitored.
- Systems and personnel are available to deliver the procedures in a timely and constructive manner.
- Systems are developed to ensure that new information, or learning from complaints and compliments, is fed back into the relevant parts of the Council as a means of improving services.
- 2.3 Complaints or representations are about the service provided by the Council, not about an individual member of staff. However, issues raised in complaints may be discussed with members of staff and recorded during one-to-one supervision with their manager, as this provides an opportunity to reflect on lessons to be learnt or to pursue other actions as identified.
- 2.4 All staff members, and others associated with services provided by the Council, such as advocates or sessional staff, are required to promote access to the complaints and representations procedures. It is important that all are given any necessary support or re-assurance in carrying out this part of their role. Staff who are involved in a complaint allegation may receive support if required.
- 2.5 All staff remind children and young people in care of their right to complain and where necessary ensure they are able to use the procedure, referring them for advocacy if required.
- 2.6 An eligible child or young person wishing to make a complaint may require the support of an advocate. This possibility will always form part of the Council's consideration of the appropriate response to a complaint.
- 2.7 Whilst all comments, including critical complaints, are welcome, by no means. all are upheld following investigations. The policy of receiving, recording and responding to all complaints should not be seen to imply that every complaint or allegation is valid or justified. The procedure is intended to promote a speedy review and resolution of all complaints and in so doing to recognise the rights of all involved in the process, staff and children, young people, their parents/carers or other appropriate adult alike.
- 2.8 The regulations require councils to designate an officer, known as a complaints manager to undertake certain functions. The complaints manager should be independent of operational line management and of direct service providers.

# 3.0 SCOPE AND ELIGIBILITY

- 3.1 A complaint may arise as a result of many things relating to statutory social. care functions such as:
  - an unwelcome or disputed decision.
  - concern about the quality or appropriateness of a service.
  - delay in decision making or provision of services.
  - delivery or non-delivery of services including complaints procedures.
  - quantity, frequency, change or cost of a service.
  - attitude or behavior of staff.
  - application of eligibility and assessment criteria.
  - the impact on a child or young person of the application of a Council policy; and
  - assessment, care planning and review.

However, this is not an exhaustive list.

- 3.2 Section 26(3) and section 24D of the Children Act, 1989 and section 3(1) of the Adoption and Children Act, 2002 require the responsible Council to consider representations including complaints made to it by:
  - any child or young person (or a parent or someone who has parental responsibility) who is being looked after by the Council or is not looked after by them but is in need.
  - any Council foster carer (including those caring for children placed through independent fostering agencies).
  - children leaving care.
  - Special guardians.
  - a child or young person (or parent) to whom a special guardian order is in force.
  - any person who has applied for an assessment under section 14F
    (3) or (4).
  - any child or young person who may be adopted, their parents and guardians.
  - persons wishing to adopt a child.
  - any other person whom arrangements for the provision of adoption services extend.

- adopted persons, their parents, natural parents and former guardians; and
- such other person as the Council consider has sufficient interest in the child or young person's welfare to warrant their representations being considered.
- 3.3 Where a complaint is received from a representative acting on behalf of a child or young person, the Council may confirm that a child or young person is happy for this to happen, and that the complaint submitted reflects their views.
- 3.4 The Council has the discretion to decide whether or not the representative is suitable to act in this capacity or has sufficient interest in the child's welfare. If the complaints manager considers that the representative does not have sufficient interest, they will notify the representative in writing, explaining that no further action will be taken.
- 3.5 The Council is also likely to receive complaints by adults that relate to a child or young person but are not made on the child's behalf. The Children Act, 1989 gives discretion to councils to decide in cases where eligibility is not automatic whether or not an individual has sufficient interest in the child's welfare to justify his own complaint being considered by them. In reaching a decision, where possible the Council may wish to check with the child or young person that he is happy with the person making a complaint.
- 3.6 The complaints procedure does not apply when:
  - the person wishing to complain does not meet the requirements of "who may complain" and is not acting on behalf of such an individual.
  - the complaint is not in regard of the actions or decisions of the Council complained to, or of anybody acting on its behalf; or
  - the same complaint has already been dealt with at all stages of the procedure.
- 3.7 Regulation 8 specifies circumstances where a Council shall not consider a representation or complaint or shall not continue to do so. The Council may use discretion in deciding whether to consider complaints where to do so. would prejudice any of the following concurrent investigations:
  - Court proceedings
  - Tribunals
  - Disciplinary proceedings
  - Criminal proceedings

- 3.8 Where the Council decides not to consider complaints subject to any of these. concurrent investigations, the complainant must be informed of the reason for the decision. Once any concurrent investigation is complete, the complainant may resubmit the complaint for investigation, but must do so within one year. of completion.
- 3.9 A complaint must be made no later than one year after the grounds for the complaint arose, but the Council may consider a complaint which has been made outside the specified time limit, where it considers that it would be reasonable to do so, and that it remains possible to consider the complaint fairly and effectively.
- 3.10 Representations of dissatisfaction that do not become formal complaints that have already been resolved by front line service providers, along with compliments received, should still be submitted to the complaints team In order to inform good practice and service development.
- 3.11 Anonymous complaints should always be recorded and referred to the complaints manager in the same way as other complaints. The fact that the complaint is from an anonymous source should not in itself justify a decision not to pursue the matter, nor should it rule out referral to other procedures as relevant.
- 3.12 If the complaint is about a proposed change to a care plan, a placement or a service, the decision may need to be deferred (frozen) until the complaint is considered. However, care should be taken if deferring a decision is likely to have a significant effect upon the mental or physical wellbeing of an individual. The decision to defer should normally be made through detailed discussion and risk assessment between the complaints manager and the manager responsible for the service, within the context of the work being undertaken with the child or young person. Decisions need to be made on a case-by-case basis, but there should generally be a presumption in favor of freezing, unless there is a good reason against it (for example, if leaving a child or young person where they are would put them at risk). In cases where decisions are met with opposing views, advice should be sought from the appropriate Director in the Council.

# 4.0 PROCEDURES

4.1 Nothing in these procedures should be taken to remove the duty of the Council to seek to resolve the matter complained about by other means, such as mediation or any other form of problem solving. A complainant may withdraw the complaint at any stage.

#### 4.2 STAGE ONE: LOCAL RESOLUTION

- 4.2.1 A complaint is made on the day on which it is first received by the Council.
- 4.2.2 The expectation is that the majority of complaints should be considered (and resolved) at Stage 1. However, if the complaints manager and the complainant believe it would not be appropriate to consider the complaint at Stage 1, this will be discussed by the complaints manager and the complainant together. Where both parties agree, the complainant can move directly to Stage 2.
- 4.2.3 At Stage 1, staff at the point of service delivery, including the independent reviewing officer or an advocate where appropriate, and the child or young person should discuss and attempt to address the complaint as quickly as possible. They should discuss the issue and exchange information and thinking behind decisions and try to agree a way forward.
- 4.2.4 Regulation 14 (1) places a 10-working daytime limit for this part of the process, most Stage 1 complaints should ideally be concluded within this time limit.
- 4.2.5 Where the service cannot provide a complete response it can implement a further 10 day's extension (regulation 14(5)). If necessary, the complaints manager may also suspend Stage 1 until an advocate has been appointed (regulation 14 (3)). The maximum amount of time that Stage 1 complaint should take is 20 working days. After this deadline the complainant can request consideration at Stage 2 if they so wish.
- 4.2.6 The complaints manager will inform the complainant that they have the right to move on to Stage 2 if they feel that they have not received a satisfactory outcome. It may be that the complainant is happy to put this off for the time being (for example, if the reason that resolution is delayed is due to a key person being off sick or on leave), so this period can be extended with the complainant's agreement or request.
- 4.2.7 If the matter is resolved, the relevant service manager must write to the complainant confirming the agreed resolution, using the standard format, and the complaints manager should be informed of the outcome.

#### Sensitivity:

- 4.2.8 If the complainant is satisfied with the response to the complaint at this stage, no further action is required other than to ensure that any actions promised as a resolution are followed up and completed. Any learning from complaints, such as unmet needs or training requirements, may suggest a wider trend and should form part of the service's learning and improvement strategy.
- 4.2.9 Each service manager should ensure that copies of complaint resolution letters, together with completed corrective action learning logs pertaining to complaints dealt with by their teams are sent to the complaints manager. This will enable these to be analysed and a 6 monthly report and annual report is produced to highlight any emerging trends as part of learning lessons from complaints activity.
- 4.2.10 Where the matter is not resolved locally, the complainant has the right to request consideration of the complaint at Stage 2. There is no time limit within which they must request this, but this Council recommends that the complainant does this within 20 working days so that momentum in resolving the complaint is not lost. The Council is under a duty to operate expeditiously throughout the complaints handling process (regulation 10).

#### 4.3 STAGE TWO: FORMAL INVESTIGATION

- 4.3.1 Where a request to have the complaint considered at this stage has been received, the complaints manager must ensure that a written record of the complaint is prepared and amended in the light of the complainant's comments. This will form the basis of the complaint to be investigated and the start date of the time scale at this stage. Undue delay in agreeing the written record, or terms of reference, of the complaint must be avoided. The complaints manager will usually ensure that arrangements for investigation commence on the date the request is received.
- 4.3.2 The complaints manager will arrange for an investigating officer (IO) to investigate the complaint and prepare a report as to their findings. The person appointed to conduct the investigation must not have had previous involvement in the matter, which is the subject of the complaint, and should not have line management responsibility for the service concerned. The investigating officer will have access to all staff, files and written records necessary for the conduct of the investigation.
- 4.3.3 The complaints manager will also arrange for an independent person (IP) to be appointed, in addition to the IO. They must be involved in all aspects of the consideration of the complaint, including any discussions within the Council about the actions to be taken.

- 4.3.4 On completion of their consideration of the complaint, the IO should write a report on their investigations including:
  - details of findings, conclusions and outcomes against each point of complaint i.e., "upheld" or "not upheld"; and
  - recommendations on how to remedy any injustice to the complainant as appropriate.

The report should be written in plain language, avoiding jargon, so that everyone can understand it. It should distinguish between fact, feelings and opinion.

- 4.3.5 Good practice suggests that the IP should also provide a report to the Council once they have read the IO's final report. They may wish to comment on:
  - whether they think the investigation has been conducted entirely in an impartial, comprehensive and effective manner.
  - whether all those concerned have been able to express their views fully and fairly.
  - whether the IO's report provides an accurate and complete picture of the investigation; and
  - the nature of the recommendations or make their own recommendations as necessary.
- 4.3.6 Once the IO has finished the report, the adjudicating officer will consider the complaints, the IO's findings, conclusions, and recommendations, any report from the IP and the complainant's desired outcomes. The adjudicating officer will be a head of service or equivalent responding on behalf of Children's Services. The adjudicating officer will prepare a response to the reports, with their decision on the complaint, actions they will be taking with timescales for implementation; this is the adjudication. The purpose of adjudication is for the Council to consider the reports and identify:
  - its response.
  - its decision on each point of complaint; and
  - any action to be taken (with timescales for implementation).
- 4.3.7 The investigation should be completed, and the response sent to the complainant within 25 working days. However, this may be impractical in some cases. Stage 2 may be extended to a maximum of 65 working days, by agreement with the complaints manager. Dialogue must be maintained with the complainant and mutual agreement reached. Delay should be avoided wherever possible.

#### Sensitivity:

#### 4.4 THIRD STAGE: REVIEW PANEL

- 4.4.1 Where Stage 2 has been concluded and the complainant is still dissatisfied, they may request further consideration of the complaint by a review panel (Regulation 18). The request must be made in writing within 20 working days of the Stage 2 adjudication letter and acknowledged by the complaints manager within 2 working days of receipt.
- 4.4.2 The complaints manager will normally arrange for a review panel on request but must assess requests on a case-by-case basis. If the complaints manager considers that a further review at this stage would not produce a demonstrably different outcome to the complaint, the matter may be referred to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, otherwise the complainant retains the right to proceed to a review panel.
- 4.4.3 Review panels are designed to:
  - listen to all parties.
  - consider the adequacy of the Stage 2 investigation.
  - obtain any further information and advice that may help resolve the complaint to all parties' satisfaction.
  - focus on achieving resolution for the complainant by addressing their clearly defined complaints and desired outcomes.
  - reach findings on each of the complaints being reviewed.
  - make recommendations that provide practical remedies and creative solutions to complex situations.
  - support local solutions where the opportunity for resolution between the complainant and the Council exists.
  - to identify any consequent injustice to the complainant where complaints are upheld, and to recommend appropriate redress; and
  - recommend any service improvements for action by the Council.
- 4.4.4 As a general rule, the review panel should not reinvestigate the complaints, nor should it be able to consider any substantively new complaints that have not been first considered at Stage 2. It is not a quasi-judicial process, and no party should feel the need to be represented by lawyers. However, the complainant has the right to bring a representative to speak on their behalf.
- 4.4.5 The complaints manager should ensure that:
  - the review panel acts in accordance with the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child.

- the review panel safeguards and promotes the rights and welfare of the child or young person concerned.
- the wishes and feelings of such children and young people are ascertained, recorded and taken into account.
- the best interests of such child or young person are prioritised at all times.
- 4.4.6 The panel must consist of three independent people (regulation 19(2)). Independent means a person who is neither a member nor an officer of the Council to which the representations have been made, nor the spouse or civil partner of such a person. The independent person (IP) appointed to Stage 2 may not be a member of the panel.
- 4.4.7 In selecting the panel the complaints manager should consider:
  - the profile of the local population, how best to demonstrate independence of the procedure.
  - the needs and circumstances of the individual complainant and the need for specialist skills, knowledge, or awareness regarding the presenting complaint.
  - any real or perceived conflict of interest raised by either the substance of the complaint or the panel process for considering that complaint; and
  - due care regarding political sensitivity.
- 4.4.8 One member of the panel will be appointed by the complaints manager as chair of the panel. The person appointed as chair should not have been an officer or a member of the Council during the three years preceding the panel.
- 4.4.9 The review panel must be held within 30 working days of the request for a review. The complainant will be notified of the panel's date and location in writing at least 10 working days before the review panel meets.
- 4.4.10 The complainant has a right to attend the panel and should be assisted in attending as appropriate. The complainant should also be informed of their entitlement to be accompanied by another person and for this person to speak on their behalf.

- 4.4.11 Those persons involved with the investigation at Stage 2 (e.g. the investigating officer, and the independent person) will be invited to attend and contribute as relevant to their roles. Should any of these persons' unavailability cause an inordinate delay in holding the panel; the chair should take a view on proceeding without them. The Council can also proceed with the panel in the complainant's absence at the complainant's request.
- 4.4.12 The adjudicating officer will attend as the Council's representative if they have rejected any of the investigating officer's findings at Stage 2. Where they have accepted all of them, it is usually acceptable to delegate this responsibility. The chair should make the final decision on attendees (including asking the Council to make specific members of staff available to provide specialist advice or opinion). The chair will also decide whether additional policies or procedures should be circulated with the panel's papers. The complaints manager and anyone providing administrative support will also attend.
- 4.4.13 The panel is required to produce a written report containing a brief summary of the representations received and their recommendations for resolution of the issues. They must send this to the complainant, the Council, the independent person from Stage 2 and any other person with sufficient interest within 5 working days of the panel meeting.
- 4.4 14 Council will respond to the panel's recommendations and what action will be taken. If the Director deviates from the panel's recommendations, they should demonstrate their reasoning in the response. In developing their response comments should be invited from all attendees.
- 4.4.15 The complainant will be advised of their right to refer the complaint if still dissatisfied to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (Regulation 20(3)).

# 4.4.16 Summary of Stage 3 Timescales

ACTION	ТІМЕ
Complainant requests review panel.	Up to 20 working days after receipt of the Stage 2 adjudication.
Complaints manager acknowledges request.	Within 2 working days
Complaints manager appoints chair and confirms attendees and content of panel papers with chair.	Within 10 working days of the complainant's request for review panel.
Complaints manager agrees the other panelists and date for review panel.	Within 30 working days of the complainant's request for review panel.
Complaints manager circulates panel papers.	Within 10 working days of the date for the review panel.
Review panel produces its written report (including any recommendations).	Within 5 working days of the review panel.
Director of Children's Services responsible for providing a response.	Within 15 working days of receiving the review panel's report.

## 5.0 OTHER RELEVANT PROCEDURES

- 5.1 The protection of children will always take priority over other procedures. Where information is received in the course of the consideration of any complaint, which suggests that procedures to protect a child or young person should be implemented, the complaint investigation process will be delayed.
- 5.2 Mediation, or conflict resolution and other forms of problem solving, may be used at any time during a complaint investigation process, especially at Stage 1. Where this occurs, all parties should agree in writing to suspend the complaint investigation until such time as the matter has been satisfactorily resolved, or the complaint process resumed.
- 5.3 Disciplinary and grievance procedures do not form part of any complaint. investigation or resolution. Where it becomes necessary to delay a complaint process as a consequence of any such concurrent investigation, the complainant will not be given information, which is confidential to a staff member or to the Council.
- 5.4 Managers of multi-disciplinary teams and professionals from other agencies should ensure that there is a clear understanding of how complaints about a service, which is provided by staff from a range of disciplines, will be considered. This may involve managers reviewing the practice of any team member, regardless of discipline/qualification. Alternatively, it may be necessary to reach agreement with colleagues from different disciplines regarding responsibility for reviewing different aspects of any complaint. In these cases, a joint approach will be taken. A lead agency may be chosen to co-ordinate the response, bringing the information together, to assist in developing a combined response to the complainant.

#### Sensitivity:

- 5.5 Elected members and members of parliament frequently act to seek information on behalf of their constituents. Such an information request should not be seen as a complaint, although following the receipt of any further information, a constituent may choose to make a complaint, or to ask an elected member to complain on their behalf.
- 5.6 Other procedures may need to be considered in relation to this procedure. e.g.: Adult Services and Public Health statutory procedures, Corporate complaints policy and managing customer behavior procedure. link:

https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/customer-feedback/

## 6.0 THIRD PARTY COMPLAINT HANDLING

The Council is responsible for commissioned third party's actions, including complaint handling. The Council will liaise with the appropriate third party and oversee the complaint handling and resolution of each case. The complaints manager will ensure the appropriate process and procedures are followed.

## 7.0 PROBLEM SOLVING

- 7.1 Staff should consider when an unresolved problem becomes a complaint. Involving people and agencies in the community who provide independent advice can assist problem solving and may prevent dissatisfaction developing into a complaint. There are a number of methods of resolution that do not require a full investigation than can be applied, including:
  - The provision of an apology.
  - Conciliation and mediation.
  - A reassessment of the child or young person's needs.
  - Practical action specific to the particular complainant.
  - An assurance that the Council will monitor the effectiveness of its remedy; and
  - Consideration of the need for a financial payment
- 7.2 Involving people and agencies in the community who provide independent advice can assist problem solving and may prevent dissatisfaction developing into complaints. Attempts at problem solving should not be used to divert an eligible person from making a complaint under the statutory procedure.

## 8.0 MONITORING PERFORMANCE

- 8.1 The complaints manager will keep a record of the nature and number of complaints and representations received, including compliments. Individual services should continue to be proactive in capturing information of informal representations, compliments and problem-solving responses in order to get a picture of service trends.
- 8.2 The complaints manager will record performance in terms of complaints resolved within and outside the statutory timescales, the manner in which complaints were resolved and any corrective action which may have been taken or remain required.
- 8.3 The complaints manager will prepare an annual report which will be presented to the relevant leadership teams and Council committee. The annual report provides information about the provision of the complaints and representations procedures, with specific reference to the learning and improvements which may have taken place.

# 9.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY

9.1 In line with the Equality Act 2010 this procedure is published and available in alternative formats and languages upon request. Reasonable adjustments will be undertaken and recorded as necessary to ensure the procedure is accessible to all customers; any agreed reasonable adjustments will be kept under active review. More information is available via the following <u>Complaints</u> and <u>compliments | City Of Wolverhampton Council</u>